OLANIYI v. DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA et al Doc. 199

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

DAVID OLABAYO OLANIY I,

Plaintiff,
Civil Action No. 05-455 (RBW)

Consolidagkwith:

Civil Action No. 06-2165 (RBW)
DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA, etal.,

Defendants.
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MEMORANDUM OPINION

Plaintiff David Olabayo Olaniyi brings this action against the Distric€olumbia
(“District”) and the United Stateassertingconstitutional and commdaw claimsarising from
his detention in March of 2003, andepaate incident involving a traffistop in January of
2004. SeegenerallySecond Amended Complaint (*2d Am. ComiplComplaint (“United
States Compl.”}. Currently before the Court are motions for summary judgfiledtby the
District and the United States. Upon careful consideration of the partiesissidmms? the Court

concludes for the following reasons that the defendants’ motions must be granted.

! Olaniyi instituted two lawsuits that were subsequently consolidated §ahe. The complaint in Civil Action
No. 05455 asserts claims against the District as well as several federal anct Braployees, and will be referred
to in this Memorandum Opinion as the Second Amended Complaint. Tiaint in Civil Action No. 062165
asserts claims solely against the United States government, and reilebed to as the United States Complaint.

2 In addition to the filings identified, the Court considered the following deasrand their supporting exhibits in
rendering its decision: (1) the District's Memorandum of Points antokities (“District's Mem.”); (2) the District
of Columbia’s Statement of Undisputed Facts (“District’s Facts”); (3Mamorandum of Points and Authorities in
Support of United States’ Motion for Summary Judgment (“United Statesis.N (4) the United States’s
Statement of Undisputed Material Facts (“United States’s Facts”); (5) timifPaMemorandum of Points and
Authorities in Opposition to Defendant District of Columbia’s Motion fom8uary Judgment (“Pl.’s District
Opp’n”); (6) Plaintiff David Olabayo Olaniyi’'s Statement of Genuine éssof Material Fact in Bpute (“Pl.’s
Response to District’s Facts”); (7) the Plaintiffs Memorandum d@ft8@nd Authorities in Opposition to Defendant
United States’ Motion for Summary Judgment (“Pl.’s United States Op8)'the Plaintiff’'s Statement of
(continued . .)
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. BACKGROUND
A. Facts
Many of Olaniyi’'s claims have already been dismissed by the CourtOl8agi v.

District of Columbia 416 F. Supp. 2d 43, 59-60 (D.D.C. 20@8aniyi v. District of Columbia

763 F. Supp. 2d 70, 78 (D.D.C. 201Dlaniyi’s remaining claim# this casarise from the
following two eventstheallegedforcible injection of Olaniyi by Districpersonneivith an
unknown drugn March of 203, and a traffic stop conducted by thaitgd States Capitol Police
(“Capitol Police”) in January of 2004. The following facts recountingehgo eventsare
undisputed unless otherwise noted, andbaesentedn the light most favorable to Olaniyi.

1. The March 2003Forcible Injection

Olaniy, a native of Nigeriadescribes himself as “an artist, philosopher, scholar,
performer, and director.” 2d Am. Compl. § 3. On March 6, 2003, Olaniyi and hisvifeyv-
Reena Patel Olaniyi (“Patel'}jsited the United States Capitol Buildiftg tour and conduct
research for his stage playld. 1165-66. Olaniyi was wearing “an artistic garment that he made
out of cardboard, empty bottles, newspaper, a book, and other common maésized with
duct tap€’. Pl.’s Response to District’s Facts  ‘IHe also carried a storseulpture.” 1d. Upon
entering the Capitol Buildingith this paraphernalj@laniyi “began to sing and dance,” which
“attracted the attention of the Capitol Polic®fistrict’'s Facts 11-3. The Capitol Police

“detained and thereafter arrested [Olaniyi] and searched his car on @uspatihe was going to

(. . . continued)

Material Facts in Bpute (“Pl.’'s Response to United States’s Facts”); (9) Defendant Disti@nlumbia’s Reply to
the Plaintiff’s Opposition to the District's Motion for Summary Judgm#ébis{rict's Reply”); and (10) the Reply to
Plaintiff’'s Memorandum of Points and Authorities in Opposition to Defetdaited States’ Motion for Summary
Judgment (“United States’s Reply”).



bomb the Capitol.”ld. 1 3. “Olaniyi appeared before a Federal Magistrate Judge on the morning
of March 7, 2003, who held him over until March 10, 200BL" 4.

Olaniyi was detained at tidental Health Unit of th®istrict of ColumbiaJail (“D.C.
Jail”) during the period of his detentiomder the Magistrate Judge’s ordéd. I 5; PI's
Response to Btrict’s Facts I 5According to Olaniyi, at some point during histention at the
D.C. Jail,he was forcibly injectedith adrug that caused him to lose consciousn&eePl.’s
District Opp’n, Exhibit (“Ex.”) D (Deposition of Olabayo David Olaniyi (“Olaniyi Dep.”)) at
187:4-190:25, 196:1-3Specifically, heclaims ttat aD.C. Jailemployeegave him annjection
in his left arm while auard restrained hindespite his verbal objectiotsreceiving the
injection. Seeid. Olaniyi maintains that prior to giving him the injectiftjhey told [him] they
were treating [himfor diabetes,whichthey claimed had been detected by testing conducted
during his detentionld. at 194:10-13.0Olaniyi explained that hdid not have diabetes, but they
nonetheless administered the injecti@eeid. at 194:13-16.Themedical persamel did not &ll
Olaniyi what drug theysed and Olaniyi does not know what it waSeeid. at 190:10-17.
Olaniyi claims that “when the injection was given, things calm[ed] down, arelverything just
whitewashed out.”ld. at 190:24-25. He then “lost consciousnedd.”at 198:20-23. Olaniyi's
next memory is waking up in his jail cell “the following mornindd. at 196:3.Olaniyi
acknowledges that no medical record exists documentingjdaion, attributing the lack of
documentation toeficient recorekeeping practices at the D.C. Jail. $és Respnse to
District’s Facts § 34The District denies that thiacident occured,asserting thdtOlaniyi was
tested, but not treated|,] fdiabetes.” District’'s Facts | 25.

On Mach 10, 2003federal prosecutors chargédaniyi and Patelvith “False Bomb

Threats, Disorderly Conduct on Capitol Grounds, Aiding and Abetting, and Assault or



Threatened Assault.Id. § 6. Olaniyi was thereleasedrom the D.C. Jail on March 11, 2003.
District’s Facts 1 31. The governmahsmissedill charges against Olamiand Patel in August
of 2003. 2d Am. Compl. § 78.

2. The January 2004 Traffic Stop

On January 20, 2004, Olaniyi, his two minor children, and Patetled tahe District
from Michigan. United States’s Facts Y921 The purpose of the trip was to retrieve several
pieces of artwork thdtad beertonfiscated by the Capitol Police as auleof the March 2003
eventat the Capitol Building. United States Compl. § 34. During gresscountry trip,
Olaniyi’s vehicle, a white vanadtcumulated dirt and grime from driving through snow.” United
States’s Fact§ 3. The van’s license plate had “accumulated dirt and grime as wellf 4. In
addition to “the dirt covering the windows etlvindows themselves were tinted a dark shade.”
Id. 5.

Olaniyi’s trip to the District coincided witformerPresident George W. Bush'’s State of
Union Address.ld. § 6. The Capitol Police were accordingly “on high alert and fully staffed” on
that date I1d.

Olaniyi claims that while hand hs family were riding in his van in thBistrict, a
Capitol Police officer, Sergeant Jessica Gisstisagnalechim to stop the van ifront of
Capitol Police headquartetsSeePl.'s Response to United StateBacts § 7; Pl.’s United States
Opp’n, Ex. 1 (Olaniyi Dep.) at 70:6-1&apitol Police headquarters “is located directly adjacent

to the United States Capitol, where the President planned to deliver his Stat&oithe

% Sergeant Jessica Gissubel has since married and changed her name to Jessisa Balted|States’s Facts 1 9.

* The United States maintains that Olaniyi’s van was already parkedljlliegéront of Capitol Police headquarters
when Sergeant Gissubel arrived on the scene, and that Sergeant Gissnbepditlover the vanSeeUnited
States’s Facts { 7; United States’s Mem. at 3 n.3. However, in mavisgrimary judgment, the United States
correctly assumes Olaniyi's version of events as true (i.e., that Se@jsanbel pulled him over), and analyzes his
claims accordingly.SeeUnited States’s Reply at2 The Court, as it must, willo the same.



address.” United States’s Fact8.YSergeant Gissubel does not recall “being able to read the
license plate on [Olaniyi’s] van when she initially saw ild: 9 10. After pulling the van over,
she “radioed headquarters and requested a canine unit and the hazardous dewichedat

out [the] vehicle.” Id. § 11.

“When [Sergeant] Gissubel approached the vehicle, [Olaniyi] aséddJétective
Joseph DePalmaid. § 12,0ne of the officers who had “arrested and jailed” Olaniyi in
connection with the March 2003 ident at the Capol Building, Pl.’s District Opp’n at 7. In
response to Olaniyi'eequest, Sergeant “Gissubel called [Detective] DePalma, advising him of
the vehicle in front of [Capitol Police] headquarters and regddss presence on the scene.”
United States’s Fasf] 12. Detective “DePalma arrived on the scene shortly therealteff]”

13. “He spoke to [Olaniyi] and requested that [he] exit the vehid¢te."Olaniyi “obliged and
began to converse with [Detective] DePalmid’

Olaniyi’s van was then seareth by the Capitol Police’s canine unid.  14. “Olaniyi’s
two minor children remained in the van while it was searched by police officerarand t
canines.” Pl.’'s Respoago United States’s Facts § 13; PIl.’s United StatesQEX. 1 (Olaniyi
Dep.) at 67:13-19. “[N]o [p]olice dog growled at or bit any member of [Olahifamily, and
the children were not heard crying or screaming in any way during the cavee@ of the van,
which last no more than 5 minutes.” United States’s Facts { 14. Aadlég[]search did not
damage [Olaniyi’s] vehicle.ld. The “canine sweep” took only “a few minutes . . . because it
was the day of the State of the Union Address and the canine officers wereedxtiousy, given
the large number of vehicles they were called upon to swedp{’ 29.

Following thecanine sweep, Patel “began recording a video of the events that transpired

in front of [Capitol Police] headquartersld. § 15. “On the video recording, [Detective]



DePalma audibly tells [Olaniyi] thatsilicense plate was dirty, obscuring an officer’s ability to
read it.” Id. 1 16;seeUnited States’s Mem., Ex. 7 (Video of January 20420affic Stop).
Detective “DePalma then advised [Olaniyi] that he was likely to be pulled overiaba
vehicleremained in the same condition.” United States’s Facts { 16. Heeding this advice,
Olaniyi “cleaned the partially obscured license plate with a rag while [Det¢&ePalma
observed.”Id. 1 17. Detective DePalma also questioned Olaalyout his presence in the
District, noting that the President’s State of the Union Address was scheduled for thageveni
andaskingOlaniyi “are you going to pull a stunt?” Pl.’s United States Opp’n, Ex. 2 (Deposition
of Reena Patel Olaniyi (“Patel Dep.”)) at 44437. Detective DePalmhenasked Olaniyi a
series of questions concerning the custody of his childcerat 45:2123. During the
encounter, Olaniyexplained thahe requested Detective DePalma’s presence so that his son
could “see the man who tried tmake me lose my children,’ referring to [Detective] DePalma’s
.. . involvement in [Olaiyi's] arrest in 2003 for false bomb threatéJhited States’s Fact 18;
seeUnited States’'s Mem., Ex. 7 (Video of January 20, 2004 Traffic Stop).

After completing‘a routine background check for outstanding warrar@sygeant
Gissubel returned Olaniyi’'s driver’s license “and sent him on his widpited States’s Facts
19. The Capitol Policelid not “issue [Olaniyi] a citation for the incident, nor did thegseainy
of [Olaniyi's] property.” Id. However, “as [Olaniyi] was leaving the scene of the incident,
[Sergeant] Gissubel issued [him] a verbal warning that he was parkedlylledd. I 22. None
of the Capitol Police offices made threatening remarks, raised thaices, brandished weapons,
or physically restrained Olaniyi dris family during the January 20, 2004, encountdr §f 20

21. “The total duration of the incident was approximately 18 minutes.y 23.



B. Procedural Background

Olaniyi instituted this action on March 3, 2005, asserting constitutional and common law
claims against the District and sevdederal defendants. By Memorandum Opinion and Order
dated February 17, 2006, the Cognéinted dismissal ahany ofOlaniyi’s claimson qudfied
immunity grounds, but denied the federal defendants’ motion to dismiss with res@gdahiyi’s
Fourth Amendment claims arisifiggm a search of his van that was conduétdidwing the

March 2003 incident at the Capitol Buildin§eeOlaniyi v. District of Columbia416 F. Supp.

2d 43, 59-60 (D.D.C. 2006).

On October 31, 2006, Olaniyi filed his Second Amended Compéagatn asserting
constitutional and common laglaims against the District, as well as various Disard federal
employes. See generallgd Am. Compl. Theseclaims stem from hiarrest and detention in
March 2003, and the traffic stop in January 2084eid. Olaniyi then filed a separate
complaint against the United States@ecember 20, 2006, allegitgt claims pusuant to the
Federal Tort Claims Act (“FTCA”), 28 U.S.C 88 1346(b), 2674 (2006), arising out of the March
2003 and January 2004 incideng&ee generallynited States Compl.

The Court issued a Memorandum Opinion on February 4, 2011, granting in part and
denying in part the United States’s motion to dismiss, denying the District’'s motisarfonary
judgment without prejudice pending further discovery, and granting summary jotigmibe

individual defendantsSeeOlaniyi v. District of Columbia763 F. Supp. 2d 70, 78 (D.D.C.

2011). As a result othe Court’s rulingsQlaniyi’s remaining claims this case are (1)daim
against the Distriatinder 42 U.S.C. § 198%d the Fifth Amendment of the United States
Constitution forthe alleged forcible ingtion of Olaniyi by District authorities in March of 2003,

seeid. at 9699; and (2) dalse arrest and imprisonment tort claim againstthited States,



brought pursuant to the FTCA, arising out of the January 2004 trafficsgteig, at 9294. The
defendants have now moved for sumynadgment on these two claims.
. STANDARD OF REVIEW
A motion for summary judgmembust be grantetlf the movant shows that there is no
genuine dispute as to any material fact and the movant is entitled to judgraenatsr of
law.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 56fa The moving party bears the initial burden of showing the absence of

a disputed material facCelotex Corp. v. Catrett, 477 U.S. 317, 323 (198@)e party opposing

a motion for summary judgment “may not rest upon the mere allegationsialsdgrhis
pleading, but . . must set forth specific facts showing that thiera genuine issue for trial.”

Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc477 U.S. 242, 248 (1986A material fact is one that “might

affect the outcomef the suit under the governing lawld. “The evidence is to be viewed in
the light most favorable to the nonmoving party and the court must draw all reasonable

inferences in favor of the nonmoving pattytalavera v. Shat638 F.3d 303, 308 (D.C. Cir.

2011) (citing Anderson, 477 U.S. at 255). “Although summary judgment is not the occasion for
the court to weigh credibility or evidence, summary judgment is appropfiitte nonmoving
partyfails to make a showing sufficient to establish the exigt@i@nelement essential to that
party’s case, and on which that party will bear the burden aff @tatrial’” Id. (citations

omitted). “[T]here is no issue for trial unless there is sufficient evidence favoringahmoving
party for a [reasonabl@lrry to return a verdict for that party.” Anderson, 477 U.S. at 24%e“T
mere existence of a scintilla of evide in support of the plaintiffposition will be insufficient;

there must be evidence on which the jury could reasonably find for thafplaibd. at 252

(emphasis added).



[ll. ANALYSIS
A. Olaniyi’'s Claim Against the District Based on theMarch 2003 Forcible Injection
Olaniyi asserts a 8§ 1983 clamgainst the District “predicatagbon the deprivation of
due process he suffered when D.C. Jail personnel forcibly, and without consent, itjiected |
with an antipsychotic drug.” Pl.’s District Opp’n at 5. Section 1&&%3tes a private cause of
action against any person who, acting under color of state or District of Callambideprive
another of a federal constitutional or statutory righ¢e42 U.S.C. § 1983. Under the Supreme

Court’s decision in Monell v. Departmenit Social Services436 U.S. 658 (1978),

“municipalities are liable for their agents’ constitutional torts ontiaéf agents acted pursuant to

municipal policy or custom . . . . Respondeat supdiability doesnot apply.” _Warren v.

District of Columbia 353 F.3d 36, 38 (D.C. Cir. 2004) (citiMpnell, 436 U.S. at 694). Courts

therefore“conduct a two-step inquityn evaluaing 8 1983 clains against municipalitiesBaker

v. District of Columbia326 F.3d 1302, 1306 (D.C. Cir. 200F)irst, a court must determine

whether the plaintiff has offered proof of prédicate constitutional violatin.” 1d. Second, if
step one is satisfied courtmustthenassessvhetherthe plaintiffhas provided evidencéHat a
custom or policy of the municipality caused the violatiold. In this casethe Court need not
address whether Olaniyi has established a predicatdtatins@l violation becaus&ven
assuming such a violation occurred, he has offered no evidéaceustom o policy” of the

District that“caused theviolation.” Id.

® The Court previously rejected the District’s attempt to avoid liability byimglpn the fact that the D.C. Jail
personnel were actually independent contractors, rather than Districtyees SeeOlaniyi, 763 F. Supp. 2d at 97
n.23. Asthe Court reasoned, the “employees at the [D.C. Jail's] Mental Healtwdr@tperforming a municipal
function, in a municipal facility, under authority granted to them byioipal law,” and thus “the District cannot
avoid liability merely because [Olaniyi's] alleged injury occurred atithnds of a third party contracted to perform
the services he claims caused him injurid’



1. Municipal Liability of the District Under § 1983
A plaintiff can establish munipal liability under 8 1983 by showing that (1) “the
municipality or one of its policymakers explicitly adopted the policy that wasrineng force

of the constitutional violation,"Warren 353 F.3d at 39 (quoting Monell, 436 U.S. at 694); (2)

“a policymaker ‘knowingly ignore[d] a practice that was consistent enough to constitute
custom,” Jones v. Horne, 634 F.3d 588, 601 (D.C. Cir. 2011) (quétergen 353 F.3d at 39
or (3) the municipality “failed to respond to a need . . . in such a mannerhasmtodeliberate
indifference’ to the risk that not addressing the need will result in constidditviolations,” id.
(quotingBaker, 326 F.3d at 1306

Olaniyi invokesthe “deliberate indifference” theory afunicipal liability, claiming that
“[t]here isample evidence in the record that would allow a reasonable jury to conclude that the
deprivation of [his] constitutional rights, in the form of his forcible injection wiglsychoactive
drug, was the direct result of the District’s deliberate indiffeee¢ndahe risks created by the state
of medical and mental health care at the D.C. Jail during the timeframe that @iasiyeld
there.” Pl.’s District Opp’n at 11. Olaniyi argues that the District's delibergifference was
manifested both in its failure to train medical personnel at the D.C. Jail, and its failmonitor
the provision of medical services by contractors at the JailidSael+20. He further contends
that “[t]he District received repeated notice of problems and abuses”t@hdail, but “failed
to do anything about it.'Id. at 11.

The Supeme Court recentlexpounded upon the standards governing municipal liability

based on a deliberate indifference theor€onnick v. Thompson,  U.S. , 131 S. Ct. 1350

(2011). Tre plaintiffin that casérought a 8 1983 alm against a district attorney, Harry

Connick,in his official capacityafter hisoffice “concededhat, in prosecuting [the plaintiff] for

10



attempted armed robbery, prosecutors failed to disclose evidence that should have b&en turne

over to the defense undBrady v. Maryland373 U.S. 83 ... (1963) Id. at 1355. According

to the plaintiff,“Connick had failed to train his prosecutors adequately about their duty to
produce exculpatory evidence and thatlfok of training had causebe nondisclosure in [the
plaintiff's] robbery case.’ld. at 1355. After a jury returned a verdict in the plaintiff's favor and
the Fifth Circuit affirmed that verdict, the Supreme Goeversed.ld. at 1355-56.

The Court legan its analysis i@onnickby explaining that under the plaintiff's “failure

to-train theory, he bore the burden of proving both (1) that Connick, the policymaker for the
district attorney’s office, was deliberately indifferent to the need to traigrdsecutors about
their Bradydisclosure obligation with respect to evidence of this type and (2) that the lack of
training actually caused tigradyviolation in this casé. Id. at 1358. Going no further théme
first prong of this analysis, the Couelt that the plaintiff “did not prove that [Connick] was on
actual or constructive notice of, and therefore deliberately indifferent@gdfor more or
differentBradytraining.” 1d. In so holding, the Court was guided by the following principles:

In limited circumstances, a local government's decision notram certain
employees about their legal duty to avoid violating citizens’ rights msayte the

level of an official governmerytolicy for purposes of 8 1983A municipality’s
culpability fora deprivation of rights is at its most tenuous where a claim turns on
a failure to train. To satisfy the statute, municipality’s failure to train its
employees in a relevant respect must amountd&iferateindifferenceto the
rights of persons with whom the [untrained employees] come into contact.” Only
then “can such a shortcoming be properly thought of as aputyy or custom

that is actionable under § 1983.”

“[D]eliberate indifference is a stringent standard of fault, requiring procdttia
municipal actor disregarded a known or obvious consequence of his action.”
Thus, when city policymakers are on actual or constructive notice thaicufaart
omission in theirtraining program causes city engylees to violate citizens’
constitutiona rights, the city may be deemaedkliberately indifferent if the
policymakers choose to retain that prograihe city’s “policy of inaction” in

light of notice that its program will cause constitutional violations “is the
functional equivalent of a deamsi by the city itself to violate the Constitutidn.

11



A less stringent standard of fault for a faikticetrain claim “would result irde
factorespondeat superitiability on municipalities . .”.

A pattern of similar constitutional violations by untrh employees is
“ordinarily necessary” to demonstrate deliberate indifference for purposes of
failure to train. Policymakers’continued adherence to an approach that they
know or should know has failed to prevent tortious conduct by employees may
establsh the conscious disregard for the consequences of their -athien
‘deliberate indifference~necessary a trigger municipal liability.” Without
notice that a course of training is deficient in a particular respect, decisiosmaker
can hardly be said to e deliberately chosen a training program that will cause
violations of constitutional rights.
Id. at 1359-6(internal citations omitted). Applying theseandards, the Court declined to
impose municipal liabilitppecause there was ee@idence that would have “put Connick on
notice that the office’8radytraining was inadequate with respect to the soBratlyviolation
at issue.”ld. at 1360.Namely,the plaintiff“did not prove a pattern @imilar violations that
would ‘establish that the policyf maction[was] the functional equivalent of a decision by the
city itself to violate the Constitutiori. 1d. at 1366 (citation omitted and emphasis addddhe

Court also concluded that the case did “not fall within the narrow range of ‘siogdent

liability hypothesized irCanton[v. Harris, 489 U.S. 378 (1989)] as a possible exception to the

pattern of violations necessary to prove deliberate indifference in 8at888s alleging failure
to train.” Id. at 1366.

In support of his fdure-to-train theory, Olaniyi contendbat“the record shows little if
any effort by the District . . . to ensure that the medical and mental healthruedrabD.C. Jail
were adequately trained with respect to patient care in general, and incoatgutionaright
to refuse treatment in particular.” Pl.’s DistrOpp’n at 11. He focuses on the lack of evidence
from theDistrict showing that it had effective “procedures and policies in place with respect to

training or mental health personnel prior to oridgthe time that Olaniyi was held irhf] D.C.

12



Jail, in March 2003,” id. at 12, and asserts that the District knew of the risk of coosétuti
violations associated with its failure to train its employsesid. at 1620.

Olaniyi’s failure-to-train theoryis flawed for several reasan&or starterghe evidence
offered by Olaniyiconcerningdeficiencies at the D.C. Jdwith respect to patient care
general,”id. at 11 (emphasis addedgeid. at 1620 (detailing variousleficiencies with medical
services at the D.C. Jdilat the Districtllegedly failed to remediatay insufficientto establish
deliberate indifference in this casghowing ahistory ofgeneraproblems with medical cawed
the D.C. Jail does not suffic®laniyi must inseadpoint to past incidents that wersirhilar to
the violation at issue here,” such that a reasonable jury could find that thetDiagiton notice
thatspecifictraining was necessary to avdids constitutional violatiori Connick,  U.Sat
_,131 SCt at 130 (emphasis added).he necessity of a closmk betweerthe alleged
pattern of constitutional violations and the alleged inag illustrated irConnick. There, the
Court rejected the plaintiff's purported showing of deliberate fiedithce based dour prior
overturned convictions resulting froBradyviolationsby the same district attorney’s office that
subsequentlyiolated the plaintiffsBradyrights. 1d. As the Court reasoned, “[tlhoseur
reversals could not have put Connick on notice that the offgradytraining was inadequate
with respect to the sort &radyviolation at issue here [becaus@ne of those cases involved
failure to disclose blood evidence, a crime lab report, or physicalestsic evidence of any
kind.” Id. “Because those incidents are not sintitathe violation at issue here,” the Court
concluded, “they could not have put Connick on notice that specific training was necessary t
avoid this constitutional violatioh Id. Applying Connicks rationalehere pastalleged
deficienciegn medical services at the D.C. Jail that were unrelatéue unconstitutionaforced

medication oinmatescould not have put the District on notice of the need for training to avoid

13



the particularconstitutional violatiorat issugand thus cannot sustaiffieding of deliberate
indifference in this case.

The Court must therefore examwvbether Olaniyi has marshaled any evidestoewing
a pattern osimilar constitutionaliolations by untrainedr inadequately trainegmployees at
the D.C. Jail thatauld have put the District on notice of the need for more trawvitigrespect
to forcedmedication of inmates. He has ndte closest Olaniyi comes tdfering such
evidence ighedeposition testimony of one of HigatingnursegqClarice Savoy) while he was
detained at th®.C. Jail, whdOlaniyi claims admittedthat the forcible medication of inmates
with a doctor'sorder‘*happens lot” at the D.C. JailPIs.’ District Opp’n atl4 (quoting id., EX.
F (Depaition of Clarice Savoy (“Savoydp.”)) at 27:22-28:7). But Olaniyi'selective
guotation of Savoy’s deposition takes her testimony of out of context. Sauwmilly gave the
following testimony:

Q Let me ask you: Did you receive any training on whea ywere allowed
to administer medications to an inmate without that inmate’s consent?

A The reason that I'm hesitating is because sometimes, if the psychiatrist
evaluates a patient and the patient was not willing to take the medication
but he was in dangeof himself or someone else, yes, he was given
medication. | will say that, but it always had to be ordered by the doctor
or the psychiatrist.

Q Do you remember specific instances when the doctor ordered medications
for a patient who refused it?

A Well, yes. It happens a lot. That's when the psychiatrist was receiving the
call and saidhis patient is in danger -efand if there was a STAT Order
written for the medication, he was given the medication.

* % k%

Q And can you describe for me one of thgecific examples of specific
instances you remember when a patieas given medication without that
patient’s consent?

14



A If —this is not the incident that happened. [But i]f the patient was banging
his head against the wall and he was bleeding profusely, out of control, he
would get a STAT medication if there was one ordered.

Pl.’s District Opp’n Ex. F (Savoy Dep.) at 27:11-28:7; 28:11-Mewed incontext,Savoy’'s
testimony indicates that medical personnel at the D.C. Jail administered meduatioates
withouttheir consenta lot,” but only when the inmate presented a danger to himsetherso
and a doctoordered that the medication be administer8deid. Notably, forcednedication
under such circumstancesnports with established constitutional standarfeeWashington v.
Harper 494 U.S. 210, 227 (1990) (holding that, “given the requirements of the prison
environment, the Due Process Clause permits the State to treat a prison ihmbhss\a serious
mental illness wh antipsychot drugs against his will, if the inmate is dangerous to himself or
others and the treatment rsthe inmate’s medical interest”)Thus, rather than indicating a
pattern of similar constitutional violations &etD.C. JailSavoy’s testimony suggestsiatory

of compliancewith constitutional standards.

Similarly unavailing is Olaniyi’s reliance on tliepositiortestimony ofanother nurse
(Juanita Wilder) athe D.C. Jail. According to Olaniyi, Wilder testified that “she had no
obligation to informinmates that they had a right to refuse medication.” Pl.’s District Opp’n at
14 (citing_id., Ex. G (Deposition of Juanita M. Wilder, RMVilder Dep.”)) at 64:8-12).
Wilder’s actual testimony, however, was as follows:

Q And why would a doctor order the use of psychotropic medication?

A Because the patient had mediedlmean a mental condition.

Q What type of mental condition?

A Oh, boy. Let me see. Maybe they are talking to voices. They hear

someone talking to them so they are talking, and there’s nobody else

around, but they are answering like they are talking to somebody else, you
know.
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Q And so if someone was talking to voices or hearing voices—

The doctor may order something.

* % % *

Q ... [P]sychotropic drugs?
Yeah, psychotropic.

Q And how does it work when a patient is hearing voices? Are they able to
give consent to that medication?

A Oh, yes. They can say | want it or | don’t want it, or,4ugbu know, a
lot of times you say it's time for your injection or time for your pills or,
whichever, and they say ok, and they just cooperate.

Q And do you tell as a matter of practice typically would you tell the patient
you don’t have to take this if you don’t want to?

A You don't have to say that. They know that.
Q Okay.

You don’t want to encourage a patient not to take something that the
doctor has ordered because a doctor has ordered it for his own good.

District’'s Mem., Ex. 11 (Wilder Dep.) at 63:4-64:1Bairly construedWilder’s testimonydoes
notreflect a beliethat she generallhad no obligation to inform inmates that they had a right to
refuse medicatioh,as represented by OlaniyRl.’s District Opp’n at 14. Rather, stestified
that when a doctor ordered psychotropic roation for adelusional patientske would not
inform the patienof their right to refuse the medication untlewse particular circumstances,
because they know they have the right to doSeeDistrict's Mem., Ex.11 (Wilder Dep.qat
63:4-64:16.

More to the point, Olaniyi does nexplain how Wilder'destimonysuggests pattern of
constitutional violations similar to the oaleged inthis case. Nor could hgiven that the

constitutional violatiorallegedhereconcerns theght to refuse medical treatment, not the right
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to beinformedof the right to refuse medical treatme@laniyi also overlooks passages from
Wilder’'s depositiorntestimony demonstratinger awareness of and sensitivity to the right of
inmatesto refuse medical treatmemthich undermines a finding that tleewas a pattern of
unconstitutional forced medications at the D.C. J8deg e.q, Pl.’s District Opp’n, EX. G

(Wilder Dep.) at 38:1&1 (“The patients always have a right to refuse medical treatment if they
don’t want it. And if you try to force it othen you are abusing them.[Ql, at 39:7-10 (“[Y]ou

don’t force a patient if they say no, you know. If they don’t want an injection and thesg igf

you just write it in your notes that they refusgdid. at 39:19-21 (“If the patient refuses
medicdion, you can't just force it on them.”). In short, neither the testimony of Samoy n
Wilder supports Olaniyi’s failurg¢e-train theory of liability.

Olaniyi alsoseeks to showeliberate indifferencehrough the District’'alleged failureo
monitorits contractorat the D.C. Jail, the Center for Correctional Health Policy and Studies
(“CCHPS”). SeelIs.’ District Opp’n at 1416. But here again, Olaniyi fails to show a pattern
of unconstitutional forced medicatiohg the CCHPS personngt the D.C. dil thatcould have
put the District omotice of the need for enhanced supervisiOfaniyi insteadmaintains that
the Districtgenerallyfailed to wversee the CCHPS'’s operations, and that this “complete lack of
monitoring of [the] CCHPS led to Olaniyifsrcible injection.” Id. at 15. Yet, without a history
of prior, similarviolations, this claim essentialbeeks tampose negligenciability on the
District for a single incident resulting frorhé District’s alleged inadequate supervisiothef
CCHPS personnel. Such conduct does not rise to the leddlibierate indifferenceSee
Warren 353 F.3d at 39 Deliberateindifference’ . . . is an objective standard[] [that] involves
more than mere negligence. It do@$require the city to take reasonable care to discover and

prevent constitutional violations. It simply means that, faced with actuahstractive
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knowledge that its agents will probably violate constitutional rights, the city otegdopt a

policy of inaction.”(citations omitedand emphasis in originajgee alscConnick,  U.S. at

__, 131 S. Ct. at 1360 (“The city’s ‘poliof inaction’ in light of notice that its program will
cause constitutional violations ‘is the functional equivalent of a decision lojtyheself to
violate the Constitution.” A less stringent standard of fault for a fattuteain claim ‘would

result indefactorespondeasuperiodiability on municipalities.” (citations omitted)).

In sum, Olaniyi has not showrpattern ofunconstitutionaforced medications at the
D.C. Jailthat areasonable jury could fingut the District omoticethat either more training or
enhanced supervision was necessary to prevent the specific constitutionarviatiadgsue.
Becausesuch evidence 1§ ordinarily necessary for a municipality to be held liable under 8§
1983 for failing to train or supervise its employ8&onnick,  U.S.at_, 131 S. @t1360
(citation omitted) and because Olaniyi has presented no other basis for imposing municipal
liability, theDistrict is entitled to summary judgment on Olaniyi’'s § 1983 claim.
B. Olaniyi’'s Claim Againstthe United States Based on th@anuary 2004 Traffic Stop

Olaniyi asserts a common law tort claim against the United Statésdse arrest and
imprisonment arising from théanuary 2004 traffic stop conducted by @apitol Police.See
United States Compl{{4649. The FTCA makes the United Statesble for torts committed
by its agents “irthe same manner and to the same extent as a private individealiked

circumstances 28 U.S.C. 8§ 2674,ith accordance with the law of the place where the act or

® As noted, theCourt inConnickdid discuss, with some skepticisan‘narrow rangef ‘single-incident’ liability,”
whichwas “hypothesized i€antonas a possible exception to the pattern of violations necessary to prderateli
indifference in § 1983 actions alleging failure to train.” U.S. at __, 131 &t at 1366.0laniyi does not assert
that this case fits the “narrow” category of singleident liability “hypothesized” irCanton and the Court
consequently will not consider that possibilitor will the Court address whether Olartigis presented sufficient
evidence on the element of causation, which reqpiresf “that the lack of traininfpr supervisionjctually caused
the[constitutional]violation in this case.”ld. at 1359.
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omission occurred,” id. § 1346(b)(1lnder District of Columbia lawthe torts of false arrest

and false imprisonment are “indistinguishabea practidanatter,”Enders v. District of

Columbia, 4 A.3d 457, 461 (D.C. 2010), so the Court will treat Olaniyi’s claim simply as one for
false arrest.To prevail ona false arrest claim,@aintiff must show that he was unlawfully
detained.ld. “The detentiorof a plaintiff by a defendant police officer is lawful if the officer
effected thaletentionconstitutionally—that is, with probable cause if tdetentionwas an

arrest or uponreasonablsuspicionf the detention amounted only tolarry stop.” Zhi Chen v.

District of Columbia 808 F. Supp. 2d 252, 257 (D.D.C. 2011). Alternatively, regardless of

whether thaletention was constitutionédt a police officer may justify an arrest by
demonstrating that (1) he or she believed, in good faith, that his or her conduct wsaiag/f

(2) this belief was reasonable.Weishapl v. Sowers, 771 A.2d 1014, 1020-21 (D.C. 2001)

(citation omitted)accordMinch v. District of Columbia, 952 A.2d 929, 937 (D.C. 2008he

issues of probable cause and reasonableagospiordinarily [present] mixed questifs]j of law
and fact; however, where the facts are not in disputethe.issue becomes a purely legal one
which the Court can answer on its own.”indh, 952 A.2d at 937 (citation omitted).

Noting thatOlaniyi was not arresteduring the January 2004 traffic stopetJnited
States defends the detention geeemissibleTerry stop supported by a finding céasonable
suspicion. SeeUnited States’s Mem. at 8. “The Fourth Amendment prohibitseaswnable
searches and seizurdg/ law enforcement officials, and this protection extends to a brief

investigatory stop of persons or vehicles, whether or not an arrest follblmged States v.

Bailey, 622 F.3d 1, 5 (D.C. Cir. 2010) (citing United States v. Arvizu, 534 U.S. 266, 273

(2002)). However, wrsuanto Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1 (1968),an officer may briefly detain
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a citizen if he has a reasonable, articulable suspicion thained activity may be afoot.”Id.
(citation omitted). As the Circuit explteed inBailey.

A Terry stop requires only a “minimal lelof objective justification.” . . An
officer may initiate al'erry stop based not on certainty but on the need “to kchec
out’ a reasonable suspicion.’Moreover, whether reasonable suspicion texis
depends on theotality of circumstances asviewed through the eyes of a
reasonable and cautious police officer on the scene, guided yperience and
training.”

Id. (internal citations omitted).[O]fficers’ actual motives do not bear on [tldjjective

assessment of reasonable suspitidgnited States v. Brown, 334 F.3d 1161, 1166 (D.C. Cir.

2003) (citing Whren v. United States, 517 U.S. 806, 813 (1996)).

The Suprem€ourt has observed that ““most traffic stops . . . resemble, in duration and

atmosphere, the kind of brief detention authorize@iemy.”” Arizona v. Johnson, 555 U.S. 323,

330 (2009) (quotin@erkemer v. McCarty468 U.S. 420, 439 n.29 (19843ee alsdJnited

States v. Digiovanni, 650 F.3d 498, 506 (4th Cir. 2011) (“Becausafic stop is more

analogous to an investigative detention than a custodial arrest, we treat atogffiwhether

based on probable cause or reasonable suspicion, under the standard sefdonytinUnited

States v. Everet601 F.3d 484, 488 n.4 (6th Cir. 2010) (noting theffic stopsare governed

by Terry’ under Sixth Circuit precedent, although the question has never been squarely
addressed by the Supreme Coufiigrry sets forth a tweprong inquiry for determining whether
astop is uneasonable: “[1] whether the officer’s action was justified ahitsption, and [2]
whether it was reasonably related in sctipthe circumstances which justified the interference
in the first place.”392 U.S. at 20. Applying that inquihere,the Cout will first examine
whether the Capitol Police had reasonable suspiciotiéoinitial stop of Olaniyi, after which it

will analyze whether the officers exceeded the permisbiadsof aTerry stop.
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1. The Initial Stop

The United States maintairtsat Sergeant Gissublehd reasonable suspicitmpull over
Olaniyi because his van’s license platas obscured by dirt and grime in violation of the
District’s traffic laws. SeeUnited States’s Mem. atP0. “As a general matterhe decision to
stop a automobile is reasonable where the police have probable cause to believe that a traff

violationhas occurred.” Whrerb17 U.S. at 81Gee alsdJnited States v. MitchelB51 F.2d

1291, 1295 (D.C. Cir. 1991) (“The Fourth Amendment does not bar the police from stopping and
guestioning motorists when they witness or suspect a violation of traffic lawsif ¢he offense

is a minor one.”).While not contesting this legal principle, Olaniyi disputes that “his license
plate wagartially obscured.”Pl.’s United States Facts § 4. But th&ge assertion is refutdy

the recorcevidence, including Olayi’'s own deposition testimonySeeUnited States’s Mem.,

Ex. 1 (Olaniyi Dep.) at 88:20-89:1 (“Q | see at one point on the side of the van there dikom
or grime or salt that’s sort of caked on [the van]. Do you see that? A Yes. It's fuomg dr
through the snowQ Was that the same kind of stuff that was on the license platéfolfably,
yes, sir.(emphasis added)d., Ex. 3 (Deposition adoseph M. DePalma) é8:17-18 (“You

could barely read the license plate [on Olaniyi’'s van]. There wato&road grime, road

salt.”); id., Ex. 4 (Deposition of Jessica Baboulis (“Baboulis Dep.”)) at 24:5-7 (“I remember not
being able to read the [vahlicense plate. It was covered in like a ghit mix and | was

unable to read it.”); id., Ex. 7 (Video of January 20, 2004 Traffic Stop) (showing Olaniyigwipi
his license plate with a ragfter Detective DePalma statddht it was dirty. Thus,evenviewing
therecordin the light most favorable to Olaniys the Court must, the undisputadts
demonstrat¢hat hisvan’s license plate was obscuredd®spris at the time of the January 2004

traffic stop.
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This fact is not insignificant The Distrct’s traffic regulations provide that
“[i]dentification tags shall be maintained free from foreign materials aadclearlylegible
condition,” D.C. Mun. Regs. Tit. 18, § 422.5, and that “[n]o person shall operate Eewehare
the identification tag identifying numbers or letters are covered with glass, plastic, or any othe
type of material or substanced’. 8§ 422.8. And “[a] person operating a vehicle in violation of §
422.8 shall be subject to a fine of five hundred dollars ($50d).8 422.9. Olaniyi was
therefore in violation of the District’s traffic laws when he operatedhicle vith an obscured
license plate.ConsequentlySergeant Gissubel’s initial stop of Olaniyi waermissible because
she not only had reasonable suspicion, bubliable cause to believe that a traffic violation
ha[d] occurred.”"Whren 517 U.S. at 810At the very least, the undisputed facts reveal that
Sergeant Gissubbbhd areasonable, good faith belief tHalaniyi’s license plate waliegible,
seeUnited States’s Mem., Ex. 4 (Baboulis Dep.) at 24:5-7, thus precludmbty for false
arrest under District of Columbia common lageWeishap, 771 A.2d at 1021.

Resisting this conclusion, Olaniyi contends thatGlagitol Policeofficers’ conduct
following the initial stop, including questioning his presence in the District and orderiogrhis
searchedindicates that the Capitol’s Police’s “interest in [him] was not limited to his allegedly
obscured license plate.” Pl.’s United States Opp’n &#&he, Olaniyi claims that the obscured
license plate is mere“pretextual, post hoc justification” for the January 2004 traffic stdp.

But this argument ignores tlsettledprinciple that[s] ubjective intentions play no role in
ordinary, probableauseFourth Amendment analysisWhren 517 U.S. at 813. Indeed,
whether the stop was‘mere pretext for a seartls irrelevant for “a court must look to
objective circumstances in determining the legitimacy of police conduct thelEourth

Amendment, rather than an officesstate of mind. Mitchell, 951 F.2d at 1295. Becaube
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objective circumstances here (namely, the van’s obscured licensgustted the traffic stop
of Olaniyi, his initial seizure waseasonable under the Fourth Amendment.

2. Detention of Olaniyi Following the Initial Stop

Olaniyi challenges severakpects of his detentidollowing the initialstop. According
to Olaniyi, “the evidentiary record suggests that [wals targeted for . . . harassment and
investigation becae of matters wholly unrelated to any alleged traffic or parking viol&ation.
Pl.’s United States Opp’n at 8. He adds that “[t]here are factual disputes bétegamties as
to, among other things, the length of time of [his] detention, the scope @drilvee search, and
the ability of Olaniyi and his family to freely leave police custody duringtiitme.” Id. at 7.

Many of Olaniyi’s contentions must be dispensed vaitlthe outsetFirst, any challenge
to thesearchof his van is not properly before the Court, given that the only remaining claim he
has gainst the United States is a tort claimfdse arrest SeeUnited States Compl. {1 46-49.

Since the gist of a false arrest claim is an “unlawientiony” Enders, 4 A.3d at 461 (emphasis

addal), the Court does not discern how the Capitol Police’s allegedly unlawful search of
Olaniyi’s van could form the predicate for such a claBecond, contrary to Olaniyi’'s assertion,
thefactual question of wheth@laniyi was freeto leavethe location of the stop during the
period of his detention is not material. The relevant question is whether, assumiryg\dani
notfree to leavethe Capitol Police wergustified in detaining him under the Fourth
Amendment. Third, although Olaniyi asserts in his opposition brief that there tsia fdispute
concerning the length of his detentigegPl.’s United States Opp’n af lieconcedes in his
counterstatement of material facts that “[t]he total duration of the incidentppesxanately 18
minutes,” Unted States’s Facts { 23; Pl.’s Responddnited States’s Facts { 28Ble also

makes a similar concession earlier in his opposition b8eePI.’s United States Opp’'n at 4
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(“After approximately eighteeto twenty minutes of detention, Sergeant Gissubel returned

Olaniyi’'s driver’s license and Olaniyi and his family were then able tordépascene.”
(emphasis addeq)

With these clarificationghe Courwill examinewhether theCapitol Polce officers’
detention ofOlaniyi was pemissible in its sope and duration, recognizing that Searchor
seizurejwhich is reasonable at its inception may violate the Fourth Amendment by virtue of its

intolerable intensity and scoffé United States v. Vintarb94 F.3d 14, 23-24 (D.C. Cir. 2010)

(quotingTerry, 392 U.S. at 18)lt is undisputed that the Capitol Police detained Olaniyi for
roughly 18 minutes while they conducted a background check to determine whdthadrane

valid license and any outstanding warrants in his ng@eeUnited States’s Facff] 19, 22-23

Pl.’s Response to United States’s Facts 1 19, 22-23. Upon validly st@ppimyi for a traffic
infraction, the officers plainly couldetain him fora briefperiod toperform such &ackground
check SeeMitchell, 951 F.2d at 1295 (*Even a relatively minor offense that would not of itself
lead to an arrest can provide a basis for a stop for questioning and inspection of the driver
permit and registration.” (citation omitted)).

Olaniyi nonethelessaintains that the Capitol Politenlawfully extendedthe detention
when they interrogated Olanigbout matters unrelated to the alleged traffic violation, including
his presence in the District and the custody of his children. Pl.’s United Sagpgsat 8. Yet,
the Supreme Court hasaghe clear that “[an] offices’inquiries into matters unrelated to the
justification for the traffic ®p . . . do not convert the encounter into something other than a
lawful seizure, so long as those inquiries do not measurably extend the duration@p.the st

Johnson, 555 U.S. at 333 (citing Muehler v. Mena, 544 U.S. 93, 100-01 (200®))ehler,the

SupremeCourt heldthat an officedid not violate the Fourth Amendment by questioning a
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lawfully-detainedsuspectbout her immigration status, even though the detainee was not
suspectedf violating any immigration laws544 U.S. at 101. The Court reasoned:

[The court of appealdiolding], it appears, was premised on the assumption that
the officers were required to have independent reasonable suspicion in order to
guestion Mena concerning her immigration status because the questioning
constituted a discrete Fourth Amendment eveBiit the premise is faultyWe

have “held repeatedly thatere police questioning does not constitute a seizure.”
“[E] ven when officers have no basis for suspecting a particular individual, they
may generally ask questions of that individual;, ask to examine the individual’s
identification; and request consent to search his or her luggage.” As the Court of
Appeals did nohold that the detention was prolonged by the questioning, there
was no additional seizure within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment. Hence,
the officers did not need reasonable suspicion to ask Mena for her name, date and
place of birth, or immigratiostatus.

Id. at 100-10Xinternal citations omitted)The Suprem€ourt later applied the reasoning from
Muehlerin the context of a traffic stop in Johnséinding no Fourth Amenahent violation
where an officequestioned carpassenger abotiis posdile gang affiliation, whilea second

officer checkedhedriver’s license, registration, and insurance information. Johnson, 555 U.S.

at 328, 333. Although the cases arosesdlightly different contexts, theommon element of both

Muehlerand_Johnsowasthatthe officers’off-topic questioning did not substantially extend the

duration of the seizuresseeid. at 333Muehler 544 U.S. at 100-01.

Here, as in Muehlemnd Johnsorthereis no indcation that Detective DePal/sa

guestions regarding Olaniyi’'s presence in the District and the custody diildigi

“measurhly extend[ed}he duration of the stop.Johnson, 555 U.S. at 333. The record instead

reveals that Detective DePalma asked Olaniyi theswpit questions while Sergeant Gissubel
condicted the license chectusindicatingthatthe stop was not prolongedi all by his
guestions.SeeUnited States’s Mem., Ex. 4 (Baboulis Dep.) at 38:10-39:8. This version of
events is confirmed by the video of the January 2004 traffic stop, whichsi&eniyiand

Patelconvergng with Detective DePalmi@r several minutes whil8ergeant @subelconfers
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with other officers, after which Sergeant Gissudggbroaches Olaniyi and returns his license.
SeeUnited States’s Mem., Ex. 7 (Video of January 20, 2004 Traffic S@plective DePalma
is even heard on thedeo as stating that Olaniyi and his family wobklreleased once his
license check was complete, which they wdde. Olaniyi hashighlighted no evidence to the

contrary. BecauseMuehler and Johnsamake clear . . . that an officer may ask unrelated

guestions to his heart’s content, provided he does so during the supposedly dead time while he or
another officer is completing a task related to the traffic violatiBmerett 601 F.3d at 492

(collecting cases), Detective DePalmaff-topic questioning did not effect an unlawful

detention of Olaniyi.

Nor has Olaniyi otherwise shown that the traffic si@s extended “beyond a reasonable
duration.” Vinton, 594 F.3d at 23. “To ‘assess[] whether a detention is too long in duration to
bejustified as an investigative stojgourts] . . . examine whether the police diligently pursued a
means of investigation that was likely to confirm or dispel their suspicions quickdy

(quoting_United States v. Sharpe, 470 U.S. 675, 686 (1985)). Sergeant Gissubel took

approximately 18 minutes to check Olaniyi’s license and, upon completing the check, sh
returned the license to Olaniyi and sent him on his vé&8ePl.’s United States Opp'n at 4.
Olaniyi has not shown that Sergeant Gissubel failed to act diligently in checkihcelnise, nor
does the record support such a conclusion.

In short, Olaniyi has failed to produaayevidence from which a reasonable jury could
find that the Capitol Police unlawfully detained him during the January 2004 traffic stop.

Accordingly, the United States is entitled to summadgment orOlaniyi’s false arrest claim.
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IV. CONCLUSION
For the foregoing reasons, the defendants’ motions for summary judgmgrdraes.
SO ORDEREDthis 11th day ofJuly, 2012’

REGGIE B. WALTON
United States District Judge

"The Court will contemporaneously issue an Order consistenthistiMiemorandum Opinion.
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